#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 77,352

On Appeal From The Florida Public Service Commission

## CITY OF HOMESTEAD,

Appellant,

v.

## FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,

Appellee.

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT CITY OF HOMESTEAD

Michael L. Rosen (FBN 243531) D. Bruce May (FBN 0354473) HOLLAND & KNIGHT P.O. Drawer 810 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (904) 224-7000

Attorneys for City of Homestead

#

#### INTRODUCTION

This case is before the Court on appeal from a final order of the Public Service Commission ("PSC") dismissing a petition filed by Appellant, the City of Homestead ("the City"), to acknowledge the City's termination of its 1967 territorial agreement with Florida Power & Light Company ("FPL") delineating the boundary between their electric utilities service areas. its Order Granting Motion To Dismiss (Order No. 23955) [A 1], 1 the PSC rejected the City's claim that it has a contractual right to terminate the territorial agreement, ruling that the agreement became "embodied in" the 1967 PSC order by which it was approved, and thus cannot be terminated or modified absent a showing that such termination or modification is necessary in the public interest due to changed conditions. Because the PSC's action relates to the services of electric utilities, this Court has jurisdiction to review that order. Art. V, §3(b)(2), Fla. Const.; §§350.128(1) and 366.10, Fla. Stat. (1989).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.220, this brief is accompanied by an Appendix, which includes a copy of the order to be reviewed and other pertinent portions of the record. References to the Appendix are signified as [A \_\_]. References to the record are signified as [R \_\_\_].

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 7, 1967, the City of Homestead entered into a territorial agreement ("the Agreement") with Florida Power & Light Company to define the boundary of their respective electric utility service areas in and around Homestead [A 4-7]. At that time, the City's municipally owned electric utility, which served all residents within the City and some in adjacent areas, was not subject to the regulatory jurisdiction of the PSC.<sup>2</sup> FPL, which served extensive areas in eastern and southern Florida, including the territory around Homestead's city limits, was a privately owned utility regulated by the PSC.<sup>3</sup> Prior to the Agreement, the City and FPL actively competed for customers in the areas surrounding Homestead.<sup>4</sup>

The Agreement recited that due to the proximity of their respective distribution systems and the lack of any defined service areas, "there have been and, if there is not now an agreement as to service areas, there will in the future continue to be uneconomical duplications of plant and facilities and expansion into areas served by the competing parties, which in turn result in avoidable economic waste and expense." [A 4.] Accordingly, the Agreement described a specific boundary to divide their service areas, and provided for a transfer of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Utilities owned and operated by municipalities were expressly exempted from PSC regulation by section 366.11, Florida Statutes (1967).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Storey v. Mayo, 217 So.2d 304, 306-07 (Fla. 1968), cert. denied, 395 U.S. 909 (1969).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>Id</u>. at 306.

facilities and customers located in each other's newly defined territory.<sup>5</sup>

In recognition of the PSC's regulatory authority over FPL, the Agreement provided that it would be submitted to the PSC for approval, but would be immediately effective and binding on the parties pending such approval:

The parties acknowledge that the Company is regulated by the Florida Public Service Commission and that it will have to apply to the Commission for the approval of this Agreement, but the parties, nevertheless, agree that this Agreement shall become effective on the date hereof and that the parties shall abide by the terms hereof and be bound hereby pending such approval.

[A 5, paragraph 3.] Although the Agreement provided that the transfers of facilities and customers would occur "promptly" upon PSC approval [A 5, paragraph 5], it contained no specific duration or termination date.

FPL filed an application for approval with the PSC, which conducted a public hearing in Homestead and then entered its Order No. 4285 approving the Agreement by a 2-1 vote on December 1, 1967 [A 8-11]. In that order, the PSC noted that the Agreement "is not self-executing and will not be operative unless approved by this Commission," observing that "[a]lthough the Commission has no jurisdiction over the municipality, it does

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Pursuant to the agreement, the City transferred 12 commercial and 66 residential customers to FPL, and FPL transferred 35 commercial and 363 residential customers to the City. Id. The City also expressly reserved the right to continue serving City-owned facilities located in FPL's territory, but agreed that FPL would continue to serve areas within its territory that may subsequently become included within the City limits. [A 6-7, paragraphs 6 and 8.]

have the power and authority to examine a territorial agreement to which a regulated public utility is a party." [A 9.] The PSC concluded that approval of the Agreement was justified because it "should better enable these utilities to provide the best possible utility services to the general public at a very reasonable price." [A 10.]

Certain customers whose service was being transferred from FPL to the City under the Agreement challenged the PSC order of approval by filing a petition for certiorari with this Court, contending that they had a right to obtain service from a regulated utility. In Storey v. Mayo, 217 So.2d 304 (Fla. 1968), cert. denied, 395 U.S. 909 (1969), the Court denied their petition for certiorari and upheld the PSC's order approving the Agreement. While emphasizing that "the City pointedly saved itself against submission to Commission jurisdiction" because "municipally-owned electric utilities are expressly exempted from state agency supervision," the majority found that the PSC's regulatory powers over FPL were sufficient to authorize approval of a territorial agreement that would deny customers access to FPL's regulated services. 217 So.2d at 307-08.

In 1974, seven years after the Agreement was executed by the parties and approved by the PSC, the Florida Legislature amended chapter 366 to confer upon the PSC limited jurisdiction over municipally owned electric utilities for certain purposes. Among the powers granted to the PSC was the authority to approve territorial agreements, subject to the proviso that the law as amended not be construed to alter existing agreements:

In the exercise of its jurisdiction the commission shall have the power over ... municipal electric utilities for the following purpose:

\* \* \*

(d) To approve territorial agreements between and among rural electric cooperatives, municipal electric utilities, and other electric utilities under its jurisdiction or any of them; provided, nothing in this chapter shall be construed to alter existing territorial agreements as between the parties to such agreements.

Ch. 74-196, §1, Laws of Fla. (now codified as §366.04(2)(d), Fla. Stat. (1989)) [A 12].6

In 1979, certain customers of FPL who opposed the implementation of the 1967 Agreement filed a complaint with the PSC seeking to contest the terms of the Agreement. The PSC granted the motions of FPL and the City to dismiss, finding that despite the allegation of a "radical change" in the boundaries of Homestead, the complaint "fails to delineate any change of circumstances which would justify the Commission's reopening the matter." In re: Accursio v. Florida Power & Light Co., Order No. 9259 (Feb. 26, 1980) [A 15]. This Court denied the customers' petition for certiorari without opinion. Accursio v. Mayo, 389 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 1980).

The present dispute originated when the City, by letter to FPL dated May 11, 1988, gave formal written notice of its intent to terminate the Agreement effective August 7, 1988 --

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> By the same enactment, the PSC was empowered "[t]o resolve any territorial dispute involving service areas," again with the proviso that existing territorial agreements "shall not be altered or abridged hereby." Ch. 74-196, §1, Laws of Fla., subsequently codified as §366.04(2)(e), Fla. Stat.

the twenty-first anniversary of its execution [A 16]. While acknowledging that "[n]o duration was expressed in the agreement" and that "it has worked well for us in the past," the City advised FPL that it was necessary to terminate the agreement and invited FPL "to negotiate a new agreement." [A 16.] FPL responded by letter to the City dated June 23, 1988, in which FPL stated that the City's "request to terminate our Agreement effective August 7, 1988 is unacceptable," and that the 1967 Agreement "remains in full force and effect unless or until such time as a mutually acceptable change in the Agreement is approved by the Public Service Commission." [A 17.] FPL further advised the City that it "should receive our response [to the City's proposal to negotiate] around the first of August." [Id.]

On July 22, however, FPL filed a Petition For Declaratory Statement with the PSC, seeking a determination as to the rights and obligations of the parties under the Agreement [A 18-21]. Charging that the City's May 11 notice of intent to terminate "is an unequivocal repudiation of the agreement equivalent to a complete present breach," FPL asserted:

FPL is of the view that the territorial agreement herein is a valid, binding contract that both parties thereto must comply with. However, since Homestead has unequivocally repudiated the agreement, Homestead may take actions in violation of the agreement resulting in uneconomic duplication.

[A 20.] FPL requested the PSC to enter an order declaring that the Agreement "is a valid, binding agreement between the parties, subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission, and

prohibiting and enjoining Homestead from undertaking any actions in violation thereof." [Id.]

On December 2, 1988, the PSC issued the Declaratory Statement requested by FPL "finding the territorial agreement between FP&L and the City of Homestead to be a valid, binding agreement," but denying FPL's demand for prohibitive or injunctive relief against the City [A 22-23]. FPL subsequently moved for reconsideration or clarification, requesting the PSC to further declare (a) that the territorial agreement constitutes an order of the PSC and is subject to the PSC's jurisdiction, (b) that the Agreement is only subject to modification by the PSC or by mutual agreement of the parties with PSC approval, and (c) that the City's unilateral termination of the Agreement was a violation of the PSC's Order No. 4285 and was subject to the imposition of penalties [A 24]. In its order on that motion, the PSC granted clarification to the extent of confirming that Order No. 4285 approving the Agreement was authorized and that the Agreement "is subject to modification by this Commission in a proper proceeding," but denied FPL's request for a finding that the City had violated the Agreement [A 24-26].

Before the PSC could proceed on FPL's Petition For Declaratory Statement, the City filed an action in the Dade County Circuit Court to obtain a judicial declaration that the Agreement is terminable upon the giving of reasonable notice, and that the three-month notice given by the City on May 11, 1988 was reasonable [A 27-28]. FPL responded by filing a motion to dismiss and a motion to abate on the grounds that the PSC's

jurisdiction was exclusive or should be accorded priority [A 29-34]. When those motions were denied by the circuit court, the PSC intervened and filed a Petition For Writ of Prohibition in this Court on March 20, 1989. <u>Public Service Commission v. Fuller</u>, 551 So.2d 1210 (Fla. 1989).

In <u>Fuller</u>, the PSC argued that the circuit court should be prohibited from proceeding with the City's suit for declaratory judgment, because that action constituted an attempt to modify the PSC's 1967 order approving the Agreement, over which the PSC had exclusive jurisdiction. The City maintained that it was not seeking to modify the PSC's order, but was entitled to a judicial determination of its contractual right to terminate the Agreement. This Court, framing the issue as "whether the PSC has exclusive jurisdiction to modify or terminate territorial agreements which it has expressly approved by orders of the commission," agreed with the PSC and held that the circuit court was without jurisdiction to conduct further proceedings on the City's complaint for a declaratory judgment. 551 So.2d at 1211-13.

Accordingly, on September 4, 1990, the City initiated the present proceeding by filing with the PSC a Petition To Acknowledge Termination Or, In The Alternative, Resolve Territorial Dispute [A 35-43]. Consistent with <u>Fuller</u>, the City alleged that the PSC "has jurisdiction to terminate territorial agreements of indefinite duration and resolve disputes involving service areas." [A 36.] As grounds for the requested relief, the City recited that the needs of area residents and the service

capabilities of the two utilities "are significantly different today than at the time the AGREEMENT was executed"; that the municipal boundaries of Homestead had been expanded to encompass a planned development known as the Villages of Homestead, whose residents were receiving water, sewer, waste collection, and police services from the City, and were requesting City electric services as well; that FPL had experienced severe capacity shortfalls and other technical problems, which caused service interruptions; and that the time was appropriate to terminate the 22-year-old Agreement and develop a new arrangement in the public interest that would more adequately fulfill the needs of citizens in the annexed area, where the City could provide better service The City requested that the PSC acknowledge the [A 36-431. termination of the 1967 Agreement, instruct the parties to negotiate a new agreement in the public interest, and, if such negotiations fail, resolve the territorial dispute [A 42-43].

that the City's request for acknowledgment of the Agreement's termination could not be granted because it was in "direct conflict" with the "directives" of <u>Fuller</u>, and that the City's alternative request for resolution of a territorial dispute was groundless because no territorial dispute could exist so long as the Agreement remains in effect [A 44-45]. FPL further asserted that even if the City's petition were treated as a request to modify the 1967 order approving the Agreement, it failed to allege facts that would permit modification [A 45-46]. Following a hearing, the PSC entered its Order Granting Motion To Dismiss

on January 3, 1991, essentially adopting FPL's position [A 1-3].<sup>7</sup> The City then filed a timely Notice of Administrative Appeal to obtain review of that order in this Court [R 104].

Subsequent to the filing of this appeal, the City requested and was granted an extension of time pending consideration by the 1991 Florida Legislature of a bill that would, if adopted, have amended the provisions of chapter 366 relating to territorial agreements between electric utilities and the PSC's power over such agreements. Committee Substitute for House Bill 1863.8 The proposed amendments would have provided, among other things, for the PSC to certify an approved exclusive service area for each electric utility in Florida by January 1, 1993, after which no other utility could offer competing service in that area, and would have authorized the PSC to modify existing agreements under certain conditions. Although the bill was passed by the House on a 57-54 vote, 9 it died in a Senate committee and thus did not become law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The PSC order provided that the dismissal was without prejudice and allowed the City 30 days in which to file "an amended petition for modification of the territorial agreement." [A 2-3.] Because the City seeks termination rather than modification, it elected to proceed with this appeal for the purpose of contesting the PSC's ruling that the City has no right to terminate the Agreement.

<sup>8</sup> A copy of CS for HB 1863 is attached to the City's Motion For Extension Of Time filed in this Court on April 5, 1991.

<sup>9</sup> House Journal 00282 (March 18, 1991).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In relying on language from this Court's <u>Fuller</u> decision as the basis for dismissing the City's petition, the PSC erroneously applied statements that, while relevant to the jurisdictional issue considered in <u>Fuller</u>, are not dispositive of the issue presented here. The only issue in <u>Fuller</u> was whether the PSC or the circuit court was the proper forum to determine the City's right to terminate the Agreement; <u>Fuller</u> did not decide that the City has no right to terminate at all, as the PSC has assumed.

A territorial agreement is a contract, governed by principles of contract law. Under principles of Florida contract law, the laws in existence at the time a contract is made form a part of the contract. At the time this Agreement was made, a contract with no specified duration was deemed to be terminable upon reasonable notice. Although the PSC at that time was held to possess the implied power to approve territorial agreements, and to withdraw or modify such approval upon a finding of necessity due to changed circumstances, no statute or decision authorized the PSC to deprive a non-regulated party of its contractual right to terminate such agreement, or to impose conditions on the exercise of that right.

The 1974 amendment that conferred on the PSC regulatory power to approve the territorial agreements of municipally owned utilities was not intended to authorize the deprivation of rights or imposition of new conditions under existing agreements, but expressly provided that it would not alter such existing

agreements. To hold that the 1974 amendment authorized the PSC to deny termination, or to require a showing of necessity in the public interest due to changed conditions as a condition of termination, would clearly impair the City's rights under the Agreement.

Under Florida law, virtually no degree of contract impairment is tolerated, especially with respect to the right to terminate or cancel an agreement. There must be a showing of overriding necessity for the exercise of police powers, which outweighs the sanctity of the contract. In this case, there is no overriding necessity to deny termination because the PSC still retains ultimate authority to protect the public interest through its power to approve any new agreement or to resolve any resulting territorial dispute. Thus, the deprivation of the City's contractual right to terminate upon reasonable notice is unauthorized, unconstitutional, and unnecessary.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE PSC DEPARTED FROM THE ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS OF LAW AND DEPRIVED THE CITY OF A CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED RIGHT IN RULING THAT THE CITY IS NOT ENTITLED TO TERMINATE THE AGREEMENT UPON REASONABLE NOTICE.

The sole issue presented by this appeal is whether the City is entitled to terminate the Agreement upon reasonable notice. By dismissing the City's petition below, the PSC held in effect that there is no right to terminate the Agreement, but that the City's only recourse is to request modification or withdrawal of the PSC's 1967 order approving the Agreement, which requires a showing that "such modification or withdrawal of approval is necessary in the public interest because of changed conditions or circumstances not present in the proceedings which led to the order being modified." In so ruling, the PSC departed from the essential requirements of law and deprived the City of its contractual right in violation of the federal and Florida constitutions.

As the predicate for its order, the PSC undertook no independent analysis, but relied on the statements in this Court's <u>Fuller</u> opinion that the purpose of the City's circuit court suit was to modify the territorial agreement, and that the agreement merged with and has no existence apart from the PSC's 1967 order approving it. The fundamental flaw in the PSC's application of those conclusions below is that they were made by this Court in the context of the jurisdictional controversy

presented in <u>Fuller</u>, and are not dispositive of issues beyond the narrow question decided there.

In <u>Fuller</u>, this Court clearly identified the issue before it:

The question to be resolved is whether the PSC has exclusive jurisdiction to modify or terminate territorial agreements which it has expressly approved by orders of the commission.

551 So.2d at 1211. The Court in <u>Fuller</u> was not required to decide whether the City <u>has</u> the right to terminate the Agreement, but only whether the <u>proper forum</u> to determine that issue was the circuit court or the PSC.

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