IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

CITY OF HOMESTEAD,

Appellant,

v.

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 77,352

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

SUSAN F. CLARK General Counsel Florida Bar No. 179580

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 101 East Gaines Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0861 (904) 488-7463

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS			
SUMMARY O	F THE ARGUMENT	2	
ARGUMENT			
I.	THE COMMISSION COMPLIED WITH THE ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS OF LAW WHEN IT DISMISSED THE CITY'S PETITION TO ACKNOWLEDGE TERMINATION OF A COMMISSION-APPROVED TERRITORIAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY AND FLORIDA		
	POWER AND LIGHT COMPANY	3	
Α.	Under <u>Fuller</u> And The Cases Which Preceded It, Territorial Agreements Are Commission Orders, Not Private Contracts	3	
в.	The Premise Of the City's Arguments Would, If Accepted, Establish The City As A Violator Of Federal and Florida Antitrust Laws	9	
с.	The City's Objective Is The Modification Of Territorial Boundaries Which Requires Modification Of A Commission Order	11	
D.	The City Has The Opportunity To Request Modification Of The Commission's Order Approving The Territorial Agreement		
	Between It And FPL	12	
CONCLUSION			
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE			

TABLE OF CITATIONS

,

CASES	PAGE NO.		
Addyston Pipe & Steel Co. v. United States, 175 U.S. 211 (1899)	10		
<u>California Retail Liquor Dealers Association v.</u> <u>Midcal Aluminum, Inc.</u> , 445 U.S. 97 (1980)	11		
City Gas Company v. Peoples Gas System, Inc., 182 So.2d 429 (Fla. 1965)	5,6,9		
Parker v. Brown, 317 U.S. 343 (1942)	10		
<u>Peoples Gas System, Inc. v. Mason</u> , 187 So.2d 335 (Fla. 1966)	7,8,9		
Public Service Commission v. Fuller, 551 So.2d 1210 (Fla. 1989)	Passim		
<u>Storey v. Mayo</u> , 217 So.2d 304 (Fla. 1968)	7		
<u>United States v. Koppers Co.</u> , 652 F.2d 290 (2nd Cir), <u>cert. denied</u> , 454 U.S. 1083 (1981)	10		
FLORIDA STATUTES			
Chapter 366, Fla. Stat	5,6		
Section 366.04, Fla. Stat	9		
Section 542.16, Fla. Stat	11		
COMMISSION ORDERS			
Order No. 4285	. 4,9		

SYMBOLS AND DESIGNATIONS OF THE PARTIES

Appellee, the Florida Public Service Commission, is referred to in this brief as the "Commission." Florida Power and Light is referred to as "FPL." Appellant, City of Homestead, is referred to as "City."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Commission generally accepts the City's Statement of the Case and Facts as it relates to the facts and chronology of events in this proceeding.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Commission properly dismissed the City's request that the Commission acknowledge the termination of a territorial agreement between the City and FPL. The agreement was approved by the Commission and upon such approval became an order of the Commission. Orders of the Commission can be terminated or modified only when it is in the public interest to do so because of changed conditions or circumstances. The City did not plead or allege the existence of any such circumstances, instead claiming it had a right to unilaterally terminate the agreement after reasonable notice. Neither the City, nor any other interested party, has the right to unilaterally terminate a Commission-approved territorial agreement. THE COMMISSION COMPLIED WITH THE ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS OF LAW WHEN IT DISMISSED THE CITY'S PETITION TO ACKNOWLEDGE TERMINATION OF A COMMISSION-APPROVED TERRITORIAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY AND FLORIDA POWER AND LIGHT COMPANY.

The Commission properly dismissed the City's Petition to Acknowledge the Termination of a territorial agreement between the City and FPL. The territorial agreement the City sought to terminate is an order of the Commission which can be terminated or modified only under specific circumstances. The City's argument that it has a unilateral right to terminate a territorial agreement upon reasonable notice is in conflict with this Court's decision in <u>Public Service Commission v. Fuller</u>, 551 So.2d 1210 (Fla. 1989), and the cases on territorial agreements which preceded <u>Fuller</u>.

A. Under <u>Fuller</u> And The Cases Which Preceded It, Territorial <u>Agreements Are Commission Orders, Not Private Contracts.</u>

The City's appeal in this case is based on the premise that the territorial agreement between it and FPL is a private contract which, having no definite term, can be terminated by either party upon reasonable notice. That premise disregards this Court's decisions regarding the nature of territorial agreements.

The <u>Fuller</u> case, and the cases which preceded it, make it clear that territorial agreements are not private contracts, rather they are Commission orders. As orders of the Commission they can be terminated or modified only in accordance with principles of regulatory and administrative law. The City maintains that the

<u>Fuller</u> case only determined that the Commission was the forum in which issues regarding territorial agreements would be resolved. It claims that, since the agreement is a contract, the Commission must apply principles of contract law to resolve disputed issues. The flaw in the City's interpretation of the <u>Fuller</u> case is that it looks only to the conclusion of the Court and ignores the rationale. The question before the Court was whether the circuit court had jurisdiction to construe, interpret, and adjudicate matters concerning the territorial agreement as part of its inherent jurisdiction to construe and interpret contracts. The City argued that the circuit court had jurisdiction because the agreement was a contract. This Court disagreed and explained its rationale as follows:

> We conclude that the purpose of the action brought by the City of Homestead in the circuit court is to modify the territorial agreement between it and FPL. We find that the agreement has no existence apart from the <u>PSC order approving it and that the</u> territorial agreement merged with and became a part of Florida Public Service Commission Order No. modification 4285. Any or termination of that order must first be made by the PSC. (emphasis supplied)

Fuller at 1212.

The Court's rationale for finding the circuit court lacked jurisdiction to proceed in the matter was that there was no contract between the City and FPL for the circuit court to construe or interpret; there was only a Commission order:

Accordingly, we hold that the circuit

court is without jurisdiction to conduct further proceedings in <u>City of Homestead v.</u> <u>Florida Power and Light Co.</u> and that the PSC has exclusive jurisdiction over the <u>instant</u> <u>PSC order</u>, with which the territorial agreement has merged. (emphasis supplied)

Fuller at 1213.

It is a fundamental underpinning of the Court's decision that there is no contract to divide territories - only an order. If there were a contract, the Court would have allowed the circuit court to proceed, because courts, not the PSC, have jurisdiction to construe and interpret contracts. To argue now that there is still a contract flies in the face of the Court's rationale.

The <u>Fuller</u> decision is well-supported by previous decisions on territorial agreements and is consistent with the overall scheme of regulation of electric utilities in Florida. The first case in which this Court considered the Commission's authority over territorial agreements was <u>City Gas Company v. Peoples Gas System</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 182 So.2d 429 (Fla. 1965).¹ Even though there was no specific provision in Chapter 366 addressing the authority of the Commission to approve territorial agreements, the Court concluded that the authority was implied and that an agreement dividing territory had no validity unless it had Commission approval:

No one who contemplates the extensive powers granted to the commission under Ch. 366 can doubt that it has effective control over areas of service. . .

¹While the case involved gas utilities, the Commission's jurisdiction over gas and electric utilities was the same.

In short, we are of the opinion that the commission's existing statutory powers over areas of service, both express and implied, are sufficiently broad to constitute an insurmountable obstacle to the validity of a service area agreement between regulated utilities, which has not been approved by the commission. . .

. . Indeed, we agree with the North Carolina court that the practical effect of such approval is to make the approved contract an order of the commission, binding as such upon the parties.

City Gas at 436.

The Court's conclusion that Commission approval is a prerequisite to the validity of the territorial agreement involved two considerations. First, allowing private utilities to agree among themselves without Commission review and approval would effectively allow utilities to usurp the statutory powers of the Commission. Second, without Commission review the utilities, through these agreements, would have the ability to exercise monopolistic control over price, production and quality of service to the detriment of the public:

> These provisions [of Chapter 366] add up to what can only be considered a very extensive authority over the fortunes and operation of the regulated entities. In any event, it would certainly seem that, in practice, this agreement could result in monopolistic control over price, production, or quality of service only by the sufferance of the commission. Certainly, its statutory powers are more than sufficient to prevent any such outcome if properly employed.

<u>City Gas</u> at 435.

Territorial agreements between utilities have been encouraged as a means of eliminating competition for retail customers. This competition among public utilities would likely result in uneconomic duplication of facilities and would adversely affect the ability of utilities to plan facilities and operations to serve the public in a safe and economical manner. Both of these results would have the effect of unnecessarily increasing the cost of utility service. See Storey v. Mayo, 217 So.2d 304 (Fla. 1968). The Commissions reviews and approves each utility's territorial agreements to ensure that the public interest in eliminating wasteful competition between utilities is served.

The conclusion that a territorial agreement is a Commission order was again the basis for this Court's decision in Peoples Gas System, Inc. v. Mason, 187 So.2d 335 (Fla. 1966). In that case, the Commission attempted to withdraw its approval of the agreement to the extent it applied to a certain area. The Court's analysis of the Commission's authority to withdraw its approval or modify the service boundaries described in the agreement started from the premise that the agreement was an order, not a private contract. The Court reviewed principles of administrative and regulatory law in analyzing the Commission's authority to modify its orders. In its analysis, the Court noted that Florida was among the jurisdictions "holding that agencies do have inherent power to reconsider final orders which are still under their control." However, the Court went on to say that under administrative law principles:

[0]rders of administrative agencies must eventually pass out of the agency's control and become final and no longer subject to This rule assures that there modification. will be a terminal point in every proceeding at which the parties and the public may rely on a decision of such an agency as being final and dispositive of the rights and issues involved therein. This is, of course, the rule that governs the finality of same decisions of courts.

Peoples Gas at 339.

The Court recognized that there are differences between the functions and orders of courts and those of regulatory agencies, such as the Commission. Regulatory agencies are "usually concerned with deciding issues according to a public interest that often changes with shifting circumstances and the passage of time." <u>Peoples Gas</u> at 339. It was in view of such considerations that the Court determined that a Commission order could be modified even after it had become final if there were changed circumstances and a demonstrated public need or interest. (In <u>Peoples Gas</u>, the order to be modified had been issued more than four years prior to the attempted modification.) Specifically, the Court held:

> Nor can there be any doubt that the commission may withdraw or modify its approval of a service area agreement, or other order, in proper proceedings initiated by it, a party to the agreement, or even an interested member of the public. However, this power may only be exercised after proper notice and hearing, and upon a specific finding based on adequate proof that such modification or withdrawal of approval is necessary in the public interest because of changed conditions or other

circumstances not present in the proceedings which led to the order being modified.

Peoples Gas at 339.

At page 21 of its brief, the City seems to intimate that the Commission is somehow relying on the 1974 amendments to section 366.04, Florida Statutes, as authority for its conclusion that the City has no right to unilaterally terminate the territorial agreement. This argument misses the point. Prior to 1974, this Court had already held a territorial agreement was not a contract which was valid in the absence of Commission approval. <u>City Gas</u> at 436. This Court reaffirmed that holding with respect to the instant agreement and the instant Appellant in <u>Fuller</u>. Therefore, the City has no contractual rights to be abridged by the Commission either with or without the authority of the 1974 amendment.

B. The Premise Of The City's Arguments Would, If Accepted, Establish The City As A Violator Of Federal And Florida Antitrust Laws.

The City's premise, that there is an agreement between it and FPL to divide service territories which has an existence apart from the Commission's order, is in part supported by the statment that the agreement was enforceable prior to Commission approval:²

> [I]t merits emphasis that the agreement was, by its express terms, effective and binding on the parties <u>from the date of its execution</u>, <u>even before it was submitted to and approved</u> by the <u>PSC</u> in Order No. 4285 [December 1,

²The Commission disagrees that the agreement was enforceable prior to Commission approval. As a matter of law it is not. See Commission Order No. 4285 at p. 2, and <u>City Gas</u> at 436.

1967]. . . [T]he <u>agreement not to compete</u>. . <u>was clearly an enforceable contractual</u> <u>obligation during the four-month period prior</u> <u>to PSC approval</u>. . . [T]here is no question that the Agreement constituted <u>a valid private</u> <u>contract at its inception</u> (i.e., August 7, 1967). (emphasis supplied)

City's Initial Brief at p. 15.

Assuming <u>arguendo</u> that all of the precedent cited in Part A, <u>supra</u>, presents no obstacle to the City's position, the contract, which the City claims exists independently of any Commission order would clearly be illegal. Agreements among competitors to divide customers or territories are <u>per se</u> illegal under section 1 of the Sherman Act. <u>Addyston Pipe & Steel Co. v. United States</u>, 175 U.S. 211 (1899). Moreover, application of the rule of <u>per se</u> illegality by the U.S. Supreme Court to allocation of customers as well as territories has been consistent. <u>United States v. Koppers Co.</u>, 652 F.2d 290 (2nd Cir.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 454 U.S. 1083 (1981).

Incredibly, the City has submitted a brief to this Court in which it claims to have agreed with FPL, independently of the Commission, to do both illegal acts; i.e., <u>allocate customers and</u> <u>territories</u>. The City claims to have entered into this "enforceable" agreement prior to any regulatory act by the Commission which could have created antitrust immunity in either FPL or the City. <u>See</u>, <u>Parker v. Brown</u>, 317 U.S. 343 (1942).

Not only does the City come before this Court pleading facts which, if true, constitute a federal antitrust violation, but it now wishes its unilateral termination of that illegal contract recognized in order to create a new illegal agreement, again outside the aegis of the Commission, to divide territories and customers with FPL. Because section 542.16, Florida Statutes, incorporated federal antitrust precedents into Florida law in 1980, the City, in effect, now announces its intent to violate Florida, as well as federal antitrust laws.

The requirements for antitrust immunity for a private party acting under state regulatory supervision are two pronged: the state must clearly articulate and <u>closely supervise</u> the conduct. <u>California Retail Liquor Dealers Association v. Midcal Aluminum,</u> <u>Inc.</u>, 445 U.S. 97, 105 (1980). (<u>Midcal</u>)

The City has forthrightly disclaimed, by its pleadings, antitrust immunity under the "close supervision" prong of the <u>Midcal</u> test, stating that it effectively allocated territories and customers with FPL before the Commission ever got involved. Now it proposes to do the same thing again. This agency and this Court have repeatedly held that, as a matter of law, the City has done no such thing. The "Catch-22" is, of course, that if the City ever succeeds in persuading the Court of its theory, it will also succeed in identifying itself as an antitrust violator.³

C. The City's Objective Is The Modification Of Territorial Boundaries Which Requires Modification Of A Commission Order.

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